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1
            CYFLWYNIAD / INTRODUCTION

         

         In the West Wales Chapel tradition Sul y Blodau, ‘flowering Sunday’, falls on the day more popularly known as Palm Sunday and is the occasion relatives dedicate to tidying the ground and foliage around the gravestones of the departed, before supplying the monuments with fresh flowers. As Easter is a movable feast and Palm Sunday is celebrated a week before Easter Day, Sul y Blodau may take place on any date in spring between the sharp winds of March and the lengthening daylight of mid-April. Although named as a Sunday, this is an activity that more usually takes place on a Saturday.

         The journey I make to carry out duties on Sul y Blodau takes me from my home in Powys, in the middle of mid-Wales, to the lower reaches of Y Mynydd Du, the Black Mountain, a series of peaks in Carmarthenshire typical of the Welsh hinterland. It then leads me to the churchyard of Hen Fethel, the cemetery where the extended family on my mother’s side are buried, which stands alone on a hillside above the village of Garnant in the Amman Valley.

         Hen Fethel consists of a graveyard, a long-shuttered chapel or tŷ cwrdd (a ‘meeting house’), and a derelict stables. A sign on the front of the chapel wall bears an inscription notable for being written in English rather than in the Welsh language, Cymraeg: ‘This Bethel was built in 1773.’ Looking up towards Y Mynydd Du and its unencumbered expanses free of telegraph poles or any other signifier of modern activity, it is possible to imagine the life of the chapel in previous centuries. Hen Fethel is the oldest chapel in the Amman Valley and was a place of worship for the branch of Welsh Nonconformity that 2took hold with great vigour during the late eighteenth century in both rural and urban areas of the country. Where country families would have previously congregated in farmhouses, this isolated meeting house provided a venue for communal services. The atmosphere of the rural graveyard and its now abandoned buildings bestows a numinous charge familiar to all who regularly visit. As is the case for many, if not all, graveyards, there is an eeriness to the place. Local folk tales speak of a top-hatted figure who stands watch at the chapel gate; of spirits that process up and down the narrow, winding country road that leads to the churchyard; of ghosts that have not yet been laid to rest; and of organ music being played in the chapel at night, music that is audible despite the fact the chapel has never contained such an instrument.

         To imagine the view downwards from Hen Fethel towards Garnant a century ago is more demanding. During these years, when the Amman Valley lay at the centre of the anthracite mining industry, its built environment included the chimney stacks and winding towers of collieries, their pitheads and washeries, which stood adjacent to fields of livestock grazing in the shadows of the precarious spoil tips that were raised in piles and took the form of new, black tumuli in the landscape. The geology of the valley was rich in a coal prized for its lack of impurities, high carbon content and energy density, so collieries were established accordingly along the Amman Valley in the 1870s. These characteristics ensured anthracite, the black diamond, was the most valued form of coal and led the industrial communities at the western edge of the South Wales coalfield to boast, with justification, that they mined the finest coal in the world.

         Garnant, Pontamman, Gwaun-Cae-Gurwen, Brynamman and Rhosamman, the villages of the Amman Valley that grew next to one another along the anthracite seam, all contained a substantial number of collieries. According to the 1921 Census, the immediate area surrounding Garnant, the village in which my family lived, contained a workforce sufficient for twenty mines. The Amman river, which flows from its source among the cold peaks of Y Mynydd Du, was 3blackened by coal dust as its water ran through the anthracite villages towards the town of Ammanford. In the foothills above the villages remnants of open pits are still visible. There are holes in the fields that initially suggest badger setts or rabbit warrens but are too substantial for animals. On closer inspection they are revealed to be the grassed-over sites of former ventilation shafts, or the soft edges of what were once tunnel entrances.

         Many small mining communities suffered the tragedy of industrial disasters. In Garnant, in 1884, seven men and three fourteen-year-old boys fell to their deaths in the main local pit known as Pwll Perkins. The winch rope holding the cage that transported the miners during their descent to the coalface snapped. The cage and its ten occupants were sent plummeting seventy metres to the bottom of the mine shaft; the families of the men and children were left without any compensation.

         In each of the anthracite mining villages the neat terraces built to house the labour force remain. Other buildings also provide an echo of the ethos of these communities in their industrial heyday. Though barely a mile apart, every village is represented by a rugby club and is home to a significant number of chapels and churches. But the buildings most laden with history are the now largely deserted miners’ institutes and workmen’s halls. These proud spaces were the physical manifestation of the urge for communal self-improvement and the egalitarian spirit of working towards the shared purpose of better conditions and livelihoods characteristic of the mining industry. This impetus thrived until the middle of the twentieth century and endured still, in the decades that followed.

         Such places were also a locus of an altruism that ensured families affected by industrial accidents would not be abandoned without support and resources. In addition the halls and institutes provided every member of the community with access to a library and, through initiatives such as the Workers’ Educational Association, founded in 1903, an opportunity to learn, study and discuss. Although 4easily romanticised, the epoch of the miners’ institutes achieved an accumulation of knowledge and sustained a mutual philanthropy that was unparalleled in Wales during the twentieth century. This shared educational wealth produced communities of autodidacts who practised an avowed collectivism. It was a social contract that prospered equally below ground, in the frequently challenging conditions of the coalface, and in daily life above the surface.

         In Garnant, the Workmen’s Hall and Institute remains one of the most prominent buildings in the village. Long encased in barriers and perpetually For Sale, it once served as a meeting room; a venue with the capacity for an audience of almost a thousand; a cinema and a community hall. This last function was reflected in its nickname: Hall y Cwm, the valley hall.

         The hall was opened in 1927, the year following the General Strike, at a ceremony held on 19 February. My grandfather, himself a miner, was among the audience. Until its closure almost fifty years later in 1972 the hall staged operas, operettas and musicals and hosted meetings of societies and organisations including the Young Farmers’ Club, the Urdd, the Cwmamman Silver Band, the local branch of the Red Cross Society, the Association for the Blind, the Old Age Pensioners’ Society, Amman United Football Club, the Carnival Committee, the Cwmamman Peace Committee, numerous political parties, trade unions and various Chapel denominations. In 1960 my parents spent a terrified hour and a half there watching the newly released Psycho.

         Almost four decades after its closure, a period in which the building struggled to find a purpose, a significant cannabis harvest was discovered during a police raid in 2009; a secular temple to community culture and social energy had been secretly redeveloped for the black economy.

         During the hour or so I spend at the Hen Fethel cemetery each year there is a steady stream of people, all going about the same business of cutting back grass and ivy, emptying flower-holders of their remnants 5and replacing them with new blooms. The procession of visitors to and from the tap in the corner of the churchyard is distinguished by the stoic looks on their faces, as the winds suddenly swell around this lower mountainside and ice-cold water flows over their hands from the newly watered vases and containers. It is rare not to be engaged by strangers in warm, if occasionally vague, conversations regarding ancestry, local connections and historical neighbourly relations.

         Nearly all of the activity at Hen Fethel is conducted in Cymraeg. The same was true of the conversations my grandparents had with their friends and neighbours while participating in events held at Hall y Cwm and of the funeral of my grandmother. This was the first occasion when I visited Hen Fethel. My mother was one of only a scant handful of women present at the graveside as Chapel tradition meant that men alone normally attended the burial. It was a ceremony without any order of service or sense of formal structure, beginning at the house of my great aunt. My grandmother’s coffin was placed in the dining room as the parlour filled with mourners and a crowd spilled from the doorway down into the street. A minister from the Nonconformist tradition proclaimed and declaimed for twenty minutes in a rich and vivid Cymraeg. The majority of what he said was lost to my very basic Welsh. The language was one I was never taught, as it was considered irrelevant in the South Wales of my childhood. Newport, Gwent, the town in which I was born and brought up, was one in which a certain section of the population seemed incapable of accepting it was located in Wales. Other than in my home, the only Cymraeg I heard spoken in Newport was by a neighbour, who commuted for an hour every day to attend the nearest Welsh-speaking school twenty miles away.

         
            *

         

         During the final four decades of the twentieth century Wales witnessed the simultaneous effects of deindustrialisation and a struggle for its 6language and identity. The country’s voice fought to be heard outside its frequently tempestuous borders and was argued over within them, as the people of Wales underwent some of the nation’s most traumatic and volatile episodes: the disaster at Aberfan; the inundation of Capel Celyn in the Tryweryn valley to create a reservoir for Liverpool; the rise of the Welsh-language movement and its policy of direct action; the Miners’ Strike and its aftermath; and the vote in favour of partial but significant devolution.

         This history of Wales begins in 1962, with a radio speech delivered as a warning that Cymraeg, and the identity and way of life it represented, faced extinction. Titled ‘Tynged yr Iaith’ (‘The Fate of the Language’), the speech was given in the form of a radio broadcast by its author, Saunders Lewis, the former leader of Plaid Cymru. The impact and influence of the speech have long been debated; what is certain is that Lewis’ polemic contributed to a renewed sense of purpose among those resistant to the language’s increasing marginalisation.

         Over the subsequent three decades the case for Cymraeg would be campaigned and argued for with an applied fervour. In 1990 Welsh became a compulsory subject for all pupils in state schools in Wales up to the age of fourteen. Three years later the Westminster government passed a Welsh Language Act, which formally recognised that ‘in the course of public business and the administration of justice, so far as is reasonably practicable, the Welsh and English languages are to be treated on the basis of equality’.

         As the decline in the language was gradually halted, the industrial centre of South Wales – the area in which over half of the country’s population lived and worked and where the Welsh language was heard less frequently than English – entered into a moderate then accelerated decline of its own. The heavy industries of steel, oil and mining were all significant employers in the region; the centre of the last of these was the South Wales Coalfield, home to the historic communitarian radicalism fathered by the Miners’ Federation and its welfare institutes and libraries. The libraries, the Manic Street Preachers would sing, 7‘gave us power’. In the year of Saunders Lewis’ radio lecture, a job in heavy industry offered above-average terms and wages in a form of employment that had strong links with the area in which the work was based. As well as payment in exchange for labour, the work provided social capital. In these close-knit communities, employment was ingrained with identity, an attribute that grew in significance during the increasing secularisation of Wales that had gained momentum by the 1960s.

         Wales consequently experienced a period lasting almost forty years in which two distinct energies animated the country. The first derived from an often youthful, determined movement dedicated to the survival and revival of Cymraeg; the second energy came out of a crisis, one not limited in this period to Wales nor any of its regions, but one the country, due to its reliance on heavy and light industry, experienced acutely: an initially gradual then substantial reduction in remunerative long-term employment opportunities.

         The country’s political and legislative authority, such as it was, was held in the Labour stronghold of the South, a part of Wales that often considered itself to be as British as it was Welsh. Here, in the offices of MPs and powerful, usually male-dominated council chambers, concerns for the fate of the language and the ideas of Welsh independence proposed by Plaid Cymru in the west and north-west of the country were marginal issues. Such concerns were at best dismissed as student politics. For much of this period, in the eyes of South Wales Labourism, a self-governing Wales was a cause proposed by dangerous nationalists, or ‘Nats’. The country was accordingly often forced to navigate its way through a period of great change in a state of internal contradiction and frequent animosity.

         This history concludes with the vote for Welsh devolution in September 1997, held five months after the Labour Party had been returned to government in the UK for the first time in eighteen years. The vote was carried by a majority of 6,721, or 50.3 per cent of the vote, among the narrowest of margins in British electoral history. The 8country nevertheless voted for the limited form of self-determination represented by the creation of a National Assembly for Wales.

         
            *

         

         In order that the participants in this history are heard on their own terms and by their own authority, this book is an oral history, a form that favours the grain of the voice and the grain of the Welsh voice in particular. The voices in this book bear witness to the struggle Wales endured during the period and frequently belong to people determined to rectify the damage left in that struggle’s wake.

         A great number of these voices will be familiar to the reader; others may not be. Many of those present are speaking in their second language. And there are voices missing from this history that belong to people now departed, or to people who, despite their willingness to share them, no longer trust in the accuracy or function of their memories. The history of the relationship between Cymru and Cymraeg, between Wales and its language, has most usually been told in the mother tongue. To present the history of the Welsh language during the period covered in this book in English is an act of faith: it is one not entered into lightly.

         This is a history of a nation determined to survive during crisis, while maintaining the enduring hope that Wales will one day thrive on its own terms.
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            On 8 September 1936, the author, playwright and university lecturer Saunders Lewis set fire to a partially built RAF base at Penyberth farmhouse near Pwllheli, Gwynedd, in north-west Wales. Lewis was joined in the action by two accomplices, the Reverend Lewis Valentine, a Baptist minister, and a schoolteacher and writer, D. J. Williams. Once the premises had been set ablaze, the three men reported themselves to the local police station and handed the duty officer a letter in which they claimed responsibility for the arson attack. The base was to serve a newly constructed bombing school, RAF Penrhos. The Air Ministry’s plans had met with considerable opposition on anti-militaristic, linguistic and environmental grounds from Plaid Cymru, the National Party of Wales, which Saunders Lewis had founded and led from 1926 to 1939.

            At the trial of Lewis, Valentine and Williams the jury could not agree a verdict; a subsequent retrial was moved from North Wales to the Old Bailey, where the three men were found guilty and 10sentenced to nine months’ imprisonment. On their release, at a rally in Caernarfon, The Three, as they became known in Welsh folklore, were given a heroes’ welcome by a crowd of over fifteen thousand whose members regarded the burning of the RAF station as an act of defiance and an assertion of the relationship between Welsh identity, Cymraeg and patriotism.

            Despite the three men’s protest, the appropriation of rural Wales for military purposes continued. During the Second World War the War Office seized 30,000 acres of land surrounding the Epynt Mountain in mid-Wales for infantry and artillery training, which resulted in the forced displacement of the area’s Welsh-speaking inhabitants.

            In 1962 Saunders Lewis, by now a more marginal figure in Welsh public life, broadcast his ‘Tynged yr Iaith’ lecture on BBC Wales Radio. Lewis was inspired to speak publicly by the results of the census of the previous year, which showed a decrease in the number of Welsh-speakers from 36 per cent in 1931 to 26 per cent in 1961.

            In his speech Lewis predicted the extinction of the Welsh language and declared that Cymraeg would wither and die unless revolutionary methods were used to defend it. Lewis reversed his earlier position that achieving self-governance should be the priority for Wales, and identified instead direct action and civil disobedience as the means by which to achieve official recognition for the language. Lewis was trenchant in his conclusions, stating: ‘Success is only possible through revolutionary methods.’

         

         
            David Hurn: I was born at the time of the real Depression of 1934. It was difficult to find employment and my father had gone up to London to work for London Transport as an engineer or something, I don’t know. And Mum had gone up to London to see him from our home in Cardiff and I was born prematurely, in Redhill, which is near Guildford, much to their horror. And Wales is one of those countries which I think feels a little bit insecure, and therefore you sense that there’s groupings in the country who really make incredible 11issues out of where you were born and all that sort of stuff, which is most peculiar. It’s a strange country, because three sides of it are an island, almost, and then, suddenly, the other side is totally tacked on to England and the problem with Wales being tacked on to England so closely is that it’s incredibly difficult to have an identity of its own, particularly now.

            If you go to New Zealand, which is roughly the same population as Wales, you don’t think it unusual that New Zealanders once had Vogue New Zealand magazine. Now, the idea of there being a Welsh Vogue magazine is to say the least slightly preposterous. Why? Well, one of the reasons, obviously, is that British Vogue and French Vogue and Italian Vogue are put on the train and they’re down in Cardiff the next morning, so why try to pretend you can have a Vogue magazine? And it’s the same with the newspapers: the Western Mail can never be a major paper, because when you go down to buy it in the morning, you’ve got the Times and the Telegraph and the Guardian there. I think that has always been a major problem for Wales – it’s very difficult for it to have its own identity. Small countries tend to build identities on myths and fantasies; you get the whole thing to do with druids and you think, ‘Hang on, what’s that all about?’ It’s nearly all myth and fantasy, even things like the Welsh national dress, so you have that problem. One of the things that Wales has, which it can cling on to, is the language, obviously.

            Ned Thomas: My maternal grandparents were farmers, originally from Porthmadog, but they moved to just outside Bangor. They were, I wouldn’t say completely, monolingual Welsh. My grandfather could write a cheque in English when he needed to use one, but basically his life was lived in Welsh, even on the outskirts of Bangor. He sold milk around the houses and during the war my visits there to that part of Wales, what is Gwynedd today, were sometimes for months on end. I think in Welsh-language culture, in those days, there was a tendency to perceive English-speaking Wales as the lost lands; they 12had lost Welsh and become, not fully English, but were on the way there.

            Ruth Stephens: I had uncles who used to go to sell their cattle over in Oswestry. They were good farmers, their cattle would fetch a good price and they must have had a bit of English just to get on with these people that they were working with over the border. They used to travel and use the English language to help them; they used it a bit.

            Dafydd Iwan: My grandfather was one of the founding members of Plaid Cymru and my father and mother were what I would call natural supporters of Plaid Cymru, and I grew up with the notion of nationalism as a very natural form of patriotism, translated into politics, just as I supported the Welsh rugby team. The unfortunate connotations of nationalism only came in much later, when I heard about Nazism and so on. I grew up knowing about things like the bombing school as one of the outstanding events of the growth of Plaid Cymru. The Three, as we call them, D. J. Williams, Saunders Lewis and Lewis Valentine, were heroes, and gradually I came to know of them as men of letters more than anything and Saunders as a dramatist.

            Carl Iwan Clowes: My mother was from Llanberis. I used to go and stay with Nain [Grandma] in Llanberis every year at some point, from say six, seven on, by myself, and then my parents would go down fairly regularly with me as well. I remember being with Nain and learning the language. The sounds of the language were in the family, but the language was something in my head; it was around me, but not as a spoken language. Then I would go down to Llanberis and I would learn to count to ten and then to a hundred and then the odd verse or the odd proverb.

            My mother was one of seven children, only two of whom survived into adulthood; those are the kind of statistics you would barely find in the developing world today. I’ve done a lot of work in Lesotho in 13southern Africa, and I’ve seen maternal mortality at its height. Two out of seven children survived into adulthood, that’s the backcloth, that’s what made my mother feel that there had to be something better for me and made me appreciate the importance of the environment for health. For my mother’s generation, a family living in the quarries in Dinorwig and Llanberis, there was that mantra even then in the 1950s when I was young: ‘Education, education, education.’ It was very much part of her thinking, because the last thing she wanted me to do was to do something menial, having seen the consequences of it within her own family.

            Cynog Dafis: There was a sense that the Welsh language was facing a crisis. What Saunders Lewis said about the language facing its demise within a generation or two, there was that, certainly. And the other thing that was in the background was the territorial integrity of Y Fro Gymraeg [the Welsh-speaking heartlands], which was under threat, or was in the process of being eroded through what we can politely call demographic change, and more impolitely call in-migration or immigration of English families. There was quite a startling change in the composition of primary schools that you could observe in the 1960s, with increasing numbers of English-speaking children becoming pupils in those schools, and teachers and head teachers not able to cope with it. The schools were being anglicised, before our very eyes.

            Meri Huws: I came from what was quite a traditional Welsh family. My father went to war in the forties, came back, went into the bank. My mother during that period was unusual, in that she went to Aberystwyth University, graduated, and became a civil servant. I was brought up in a household where, in my early years, they spoke English to each other, because that’s what young people did in the 1950s, post-war, even in places like Llandysul. Dad was very definitely Chapel; he was a deacon, sat in the sêt fawr [elders’ pew] all his life. My mother had been brought up in the church but was atheist by the time I came 14along. She worked in the Ministry of Agriculture and was perceived to be educated, well-off and, as a consequence, became quite bloody-minded as she got older.

            It was a family that reflected the sixties in Wales, slowly becoming middle class. I went to a Welsh-medium primary school in Llandeilo in 1966, a school which probably had at that stage twenty pupils. We met in the local drill hall, and at a shed out the back.

            Then I went through schooling in Fishguard, educated entirely through the medium of English, and then went to Aberystwyth. It was during that period in Fishguard that I became very, very aware of Welsh-language politics, because of the attitudes around me in Pembrokeshire.

            Siôn Jobbins: In Pembrokeshire you still had a sense that, if you chose to speak Welsh, you would be being nasty to English people. There was also almost a Victorian hangover lingering on into the 1970s, where there was a preference, especially in the older generation, for speaking English, which almost by definition made you seem more intelligent. In that sense the Welsh language wasn’t a strong language.

            In Dyfed, in the 1970s, with the exception of South Pembrokeshire, you could have made every school a Welsh-medium school. It could have been done sensitively, over four or five years, and it wasn’t. Part of that was still this residual cultural feeling among Welsh-speaking councillors that they didn’t want to push it, that it would be an affront to make English-speaking kids of five years old learn Welsh as well.

            Carl Iwan Clowes: I got a scholarship to go to a grant-aided school and I got an entrance to university. There was no history of medicine in the family. Mum said, ‘Medicine, why not?’ and I wasn’t in a position to argue, so I drifted into medicine, and became more and more aware, as the years went by, that there was scorn, disdain, certainly a lack of understanding, about Wales and its culture and its language. And like so many people that go away, that reinforced my awareness and I thought 15this was something I began to feel. It made me more passionate, more of a nationalist, than I ever thought to be when I went to university. I met my wife-to-be, Dorothi, in my first year at medical school. Northern Irish in background, she came to Llanberis for the first time at eighteen and had never heard the Welsh language, didn’t really understand it existed and was so taken aback by it. That probably reinforced my awareness of it as well.

            I did the usual house jobs in Manchester Royal Infirmary, and then hospital in Saltwood and then an SHO, senior house officer, job in Llangwyfan Hospital, which was at the end of a generation: it was the old chest hospital for North Wales, where the quarrymen used to go with their TB and pneumoconiosis. I was at a bit of a crossroads, because I went to do post-grad; I started off at Christie Hospital in Manchester, but clearly it was in my head to return to Wales. Saturday morning in the hospital mess, my wife upstairs in the flat with a little one, one year of age, I picked up the BMJ: ‘Single-handed dispensing medical practice at Llanaelhaearn in Llŷn’.

            I was on a trajectory to hold a consultant post in this brilliant hospital, in a discipline I enjoyed, but somehow that advert won the day. Llanaelhaearn was emphatically Welsh-speaking, 90 per cent of the population were Welsh-speaking in the 1971 Census, and I was thrown in at the deep end clinically, and culturally as well. It was literally twenty-four hours a day, seven days a week, fifty-two weeks a year. There was no escape unless I arranged a locum. One of the obvious advantages of that was that I inevitably was very much involved in everything that went on in the community. I got to know everybody, I knew everybody’s work, I knew everybody’s family connections, and that is hugely important in medicine.

            Cynog Dafis: I remember working out that 90 per cent of the children who were in the same class as I was in school in Aberaeron left Wales. Some of them came back in dribs and drabs but, by and large, that generation, and a whole series of generations of very clever, very 16talented and well-educated people, left Wales, because there was no concept of Wales – a familiar term – as a nation. The Welsh were a tribe, and they were highly motivated and organised as a tribe. In London, for example, they worked together and they helped each other and they promoted each other, no doubt, in all sorts of ways, but essentially, that was what it was about. That’s what the philosopher J. R. Jones had in mind when he said that the Welsh were a people, not a nation, but our big mission in Plaid was nationhood of course.

            Carl Iwan Clowes: I was twenty-six when I went into practice, and within two weeks the village school was threatened with closure. There was a public meeting, I’ll never forget it, this coke stove in the corner, crowded, everybody as one – I could say on fire – for the cause: this school must be saved. And I was with them. I didn’t want the school to close; it’s still under threat, even now, but so is much of rural Wales.

            The school was reprieved. It was the Welsh Office, as it was, that intervened, and said, ‘Give them a break.’ There was the Gittins Report of 1967, which suggested that every school with fewer than fifty pupils and three teachers should close, so Caernarvonshire, as it was then, was only implementing what was government policy. A third of the population had disappeared post-war: the parish had gone down from 1,500 to 1,000, and that had a big impact on the morale – but clearly, if you had any belief in the future of that community, something had to be done about that. Immobility was very, very high, [with] one of the highest levels of hypertension, high blood pressure, you’d probably find anywhere at that period; there were high levels of diabetes, high levels of depression – these are all related to a community in decline.

         

         
            In his radio speech ‘Tynged yr Iaith’, Saunders Lewis referred to Brad y Llyfrau Gleision (‘The Treachery of the Blue Books’), an incident named after a report submitted to a parliamentary inquiry commissioned in 1847 to assess the state of education in Wales. The report’s findings were bound together in three volumes whose covers,  17following parliamentary convention of the day, were blue. The inquiry was conducted by three commissioners, none of them professional educationalists, who had undertaken a tour of Wales and made an examination of its education system. The terms of their investigation had been expanded, however, to include an evaluation of the ‘morals and behaviour’ of the Welsh people.

            The report contained remarks that many in Wales considered ignorant and pejorative. The commissioners concluded that the country’s people were lazy, dim-witted and immoral; of further concern to the commissioners was the emphasis placed on Cymraeg and Nonconformity, the form of religion most popular in Wales, to which the commissioners attributed the country’s supposed moral failure. That such conclusions had been reached by three Anglican, non-Welsh-speaking, gentlemen amateur commissioners, who had sought the advice and expertise of prejudiced members of their own minority faith, was met with indignation and anger.

            One response was the amalgamation of the Calvinistic Methodists with Wales’s older Nonconformist denominations; both groups united against what was now perceived to be their mutual enemy of Anglicanism.

            The development of Welsh Nationalist aspirations later in the century unified around this new, self-consciously Welsh Nonconformist identity, identified as Chapel, which revived religious education and contributed to the politics of Wales with a newfound vigour.

            The influence of Chapel reached beyond the places of worship into every sphere of life. The Nonconformists’ opposition to intoxicating liquor gave rise to an influential teetotal and temperance movement that resulted in the Welsh Sunday Closing Act of 1881. As democratic organisations, the chapels encouraged a sense of participatory debate and ownership from which their members were excluded in the workplace, and regularly staged eisteddfodau and other entertainments, including dramatic productions and choir concerts. 18

            An Anglican revival in the 1910s ensured their Church was stronger in relation to Nonconformity than it had been in 1851. Yet the dominance of the Nonconformists in Wales was obvious. Chapels remained at the centre of most communal activities; Nonconformism was synonymous with Welsh identity and an unwavering source of strength for Cymraeg. The presence of Nonconformity in many communities made palpable the ancient idea of Wales as ‘y werin bobl’, a classless, cultured, respectable society of ‘folk people’. The convergence of Cymraeg and Nonconformity also engendered the sense that those participating in this form of worship were ‘parchus’ (respectable) and had consequently achieved a societal position and set of values from which they would be disinclined to deviate. For later generations ‘parchus’ would signify a behavioural rigidity from which Wales and its language needed to be liberated. Despite the effects of the Great War on both population numbers and society’s faith in religion, there were over 400,000 Chapel members in Wales during the 1920s, about a quarter of the adult population. Four decades later, at the time of Lewis’ speech, attendance figures of all denominations had dramatically decreased in Wales.

            Saunders Lewis, a practising Roman Catholic, maintained that the Blue Books were ‘the most important nineteenth-century historical documents we possess’. In referring to them he linked the survival of the language with the fight for Welsh identity and the perpetual need to resist attitudes of condescension and arrogance.

         

         
            Rowan Williams: I was brought up in one of those typical post-war Welsh-speaking families where Welsh wasn’t spoken to the younger generation. We had a Welsh Bible, obviously, in the house, and a Welsh translation of The Pilgrim’s Progress, but I don’t think the family read the Welsh-language press at all or connected very much in that way. That’s partly because we’d moved from Ystradgynlais to Cardiff when I was about five, and spent a few years there before going back to Swansea, and the environment we were in in Cardiff, the work and 19school environment, was not particularly Welsh. I think there was this feeling that Welsh was the language of the culture you were climbing away from. There was not much sense that Welsh continued to be a language being used for creative work, or intellectual work, or whatever. My grandmother went to a Welsh-language chapel on Sunday evenings in Cardiff; she went to Crwys Road, that great mecca of Presbyterian orthodoxy, but it was a grandparents’ thing.

            Ffred Ffransis: From the late 1960s, not that it affected everybody, there was a strong Christian element within the Welsh-language movement, which dovetailed with non-violence and with the peace movement as well. It was very much the Nonconformist element of Christianity, part of what was perceived and romanticised by liberals and by Plaid Cymru as the radical tradition in Wales, which grew out of Nonconformity and so on. And there’s lots of truth to that.

            Rowan Williams: It’s such a cliché when people say that socialism in Wales owes more to Methodism than Marxism, and yet there is something in that. I don’t think it’s the whole truth, because I think you’d have to recognise there is a strong secular element in Welsh radicalism as well, but what you see is what I call the pitch being rolled for a hundred years beforehand, so that the notion of the small local discussion group, the high expectations of literacy and critical exchange, really do make the particular culture of the working men’s institute, the miners’ library, all these things, intelligible.

            Iwan Bala: The Chapel was a hierarchical system. I was brought up in Chapel and my mother was an organist, my father was a layman deacon. In Gwyddelwern there were two chapels, the Wesleyan and the Methodist, and a Church in Wales church, with a wonderful spire that I thought was amazing – I thought it was the tallest in the world. We only went to the top chapel, the Methodist chapel; we never would go into the Wesleyan and the Wesleyans would never go into the Methodist chapel. You knew 20who was who by looking at them. You knew who were Church people, who was a Wesleyan and who was a Methodist. The problem with the chapels is that as the congregations diminished, they still wouldn’t join. They kept maintaining these old chapels with only three or four people in them, instead of joining together.

            In South Wales, in the mining communities, you look at the huge chapels and the male voice choirs that they had and the eisteddfodau that they hosted in these chapels. Chapel was also seen as a bastion against drunkenness amongst the miners. I think when chapels were very strong, they were just as strong, if not stronger, in the Valleys.

            Rowan Williams: My closest friend at school was someone who came from a very Welsh-speaking, Nonconformist background, living a bit further up the Swansea Valley – we lived in the very Anglophone west side of Swansea, my friend lived in Morriston. We spent a lot of time together, so I used to go to social events in Morriston with his family quite often, which would often rotate around Tabernacle or the parish church, which had a very active Gilbert and Sullivan Society, but that was, I suppose, how in my teens I was most conscious about that, and visits back to the family in Ystradgynlais, still feeling to be part of all that. And I remember, I think it was in 1967, that quite famous pamphlet published, Gwerth Cristionogol yr Iaith Gymraeg, ‘The Christian Value of the Welsh Language’, by Pennar Davies and Gwynfor Evans and that was a statement for all the sixties’ Welsh communitarian values enshrined in the language itself; the language had a real moral timbre to it.

            Philippa Davies: My parents were both from quite poor backgrounds. My father had a couple of sisters, and his mother was called Nell Peg, because she’d had polio, but everybody knew her in Carmarthen as Nell Peg. She had a pronounced limp, and she was a second-hand-clothes dealer on Carmarthen Market. From the age of about three, I used to help her with the second-hand clothes and jewellery and 21things like that. She was quite a renowned black marketeer during the war. My grandfather’s job had been playing the violin in the pubs, and he died in his early forties, so she was a widow, but she was quite a character. She knew Lloyd George; she knew Dylan Thomas; she was a really feisty woman. She lived until her late eighties, even though she was quite a heavy smoker and drinker, and she always had minks around her neck and a fag and lipstick. She was a huge role model to me, my grandmother.

            And my other grandmother had what’s called puerperal psychosis, which is now treatable by antibiotics and things; it’s also called postpartum psychosis. She was in St David’s asylum, which was called St David’s Hospital but was actually an asylum, when my mother was about eight. Then they did a lobotomy, but they did the wrong side of her head, so she was there for good. My mother brought up her family, even though she didn’t know where her own mother was between eight and fourteen. An awful lot of my mother’s family had psychiatric problems because her dad had got this Victorian housekeeper who was terribly cruel and beat them, so they all had a lot of issues.

            My mother and father met in what was called the Young People’s Fellowship in the chapel, where chapels used to intermingle. My father came from Penuel Chapel and my mother came from the Upper Chapel, both in Carmarthen, and that’s how they met.

            They spoke equal amounts of Welsh and English, but both the chapels were all-Welsh. And my mother was a Communist. She used to get Soviet Woman sent over. She was friends with the chap who was the mayor of Carmarthen for quite a long time, called Ifor Morris, who was an official in the Railway Union and known across Carmarthen as Stalin. He and his wife, Mattie, and their daughter, Joan, used to go to Moscow for their holidays, which was then quite a bold thing to do. But my mother was in the Labour Party and a big activist, and my brother and I, from as young as we can remember, would spend the lead-up to elections making rosettes. My mother had heard from Jehovah’s Witnesses it was always good to take children with you 22– we’d be dragged around all these housing estates campaigning for Labour.

            Rowan Williams: You can’t really come at the role of Chapel without some sense of what it meant for the Welsh to be a subaltern people, a subaltern culture. Now, typically, colonised subaltern cultures find ways round, find ways of navigating or negotiating the system to make sure that their identity isn’t swallowed up by what happens to be dominant.

            In Wales, Chapel life, especially outside the cities, had been so much a focus for every kind of social activity. I can remember the last glow of that in the fifties and sixties. Back in Swansea in the sixties, a place like Tabernacl Treforys, which was another of the great cathedrals of Presbyterianism, was still providing quite a lot in the way of concerts and social evenings and drama. Wales was never feudal, and I think that is an important difference with England. It certainly helps to explain that particular pressure for mass literacy; it’s not just about keeping the masses in their place, because that’s not an issue. It is, I think, wanting to create a self-reliant rural community which can cope with the Prayer Book and the Bible in Welsh, which has an ethical perspective.

            I think of my mother’s cousin, who was a secondary school teacher in Mountain Ash, taught Latin and History, and the idea that you could have somebody teaching Latin in the Valleys, that was part of the Welsh middle-class self-image too. And there was employment. [But] when I think of Ebbw Vale in my time as the local bishop many years later, healthy, happy families wasn’t the first phrase that would come to mind.

            Tecwyn Vaughan Jones: The Sunday School trip in the early sixties was one of the few opportunities that kids that I knew had of leaving the community and visiting somewhere else, without having to walk to surrounding villages. They would have a trip on the train to places like Rhyl and Llandudno; the women would prepare all the food. All 23the food was put on the train, this one train for everybody, going from Blaenau Ffestiniog to the coast, and then we’d eat in the vestry at a sister chapel up in Llandudno. We had a fantastic time. This was so important to us because you didn’t have to pay for it. It was free, the chapel paid for all this.

            I didn’t think of it then. I thought that was the way things were done; it’s only when I lived away that I thought, ‘Goodness me, that was the case,’ and it made me so much prouder of where I come from and my roots in that community.

            We were Chapel-goers, three times a day in the 1960s. It was becoming less and less popular. Most of the people that I was at school with went to Chapel and went to Sunday School, and I remember being asked in Cardiff, ‘Wasn’t it a big burden for you to go to church and Chapel and being gay in a community like that?’ and I thought, ‘I never, ever thought of that.’

            When I was in school, we were encouraged to go to adult classes, which I did from about the age of thirteen or fourteen. When I was in the sixth form, I was studying geography, English and Welsh, and the Welsh teacher would enrol us into two night-school classes that were being taught by professors from Bangor University and we had to go to them as part of our schoolwork. We’d be there from seven till nine in these classes. All of us went.

            Dafydd Iwan: Many of the people I saw, going with my parents to the Plaid conference or Ysgol Haf [‘Summer School’] as it was known, many of the people there were men of letters or women of letters. The link with the creative arts, especially literature and poetry, was very strong and also with academia and religious leaders. Pennar Davies and Gwynfor Evans were both from the Annibynwyr Cymraeg, the Congregationalists, and were recognised as religious thinkers as well as political thinkers.24

            Rowan Williams: Pennar Davies is a very interesting figure in all this, and I vaguely remember him as a presence in Swansea in my youth, being referred to from time to time, you would see him at events – one of his sons was at the same school as I was, a very Welsh kind of connection. But the sense [was] that here was somebody who was a public intellectual, who had made a very conscious commitment to the language, writing almost exclusively in the language, along with Gwynfor Evans.

            Dafydd Iwan: My father was a minister in Brynamman but a very socially minded preacher. It was listening to his sermons that I first heard of the anti-apartheid struggle in South Africa, and of Trevor Huddleston, and so through Christianity, through the Chapel, I heard of things like the protest marches against the nuclear bomb.

            Rowan Williams: When we were living in Cardiff, we worshipped at an English-language Welsh Presbyterian church, Park End, near Roath Park, which was an enormously successful, flourishing church with quite a few Welsh-speaking people around in it, especially the minister, who was part of the great Nantlais Williams dynasty, so that still felt a bit like whatever there was of a religious establishment in Wales. I think that was really the last glow before night fell, in a sense: in the sixties, I think membership and attendance in a lot of the Nonconformist churches fell off a cliff.

            Carl Iwan Clowes: There’s a proverb, in Welsh, ‘cenedl heb iaith, cenedl heb galon’, ‘a nation without a language is a nation without a heart’. Politicians, including Plaid, might find it hard to say that. There’s a suggestion that you’re going to alienate people who don’t speak the language, but there’s a lot of truth in that, I think. It’s such a strong identity: if you hear somebody speaking Welsh outside of your area it becomes something to notice. You go overseas and you hear 25somebody speaking Welsh, it’s almost inevitable that you sidle over to them and say, ‘O ble wyt ti’n dod?’ – ‘Where are you from?’

            It was said to me years ago, and I’m sure it’s true, that when you’re outside of your patch, or your continent, Africa, wherever you may be, and you see somebody who is obviously a Brit, and you start talking to them, the first thing they will say if they’re from England, is, ‘What do you do, then?’ ‘I’m a joiner, I’m a carpenter, I’m a doctor.’ Welsh people, the first thing they say is, ‘O ble wyt ti?’ The relationship between a language and the confidence of the people in that language and the confidence in themselves, in the environment that they’ve got, all contribute to the picture of health.

         

         
            The direct-action pressure group Cymdeithas yr Iaith Gymraeg, the Welsh Language Society, was founded in 1962 within a few months of Saunders Lewis’ radio speech. ‘Welsh Language Society’ is an imperfect translation and fails to capture the essence of the organisation. The methods of direct action that the society adapted had been pioneered in the 1950s by Eileen and Trefor Beasley of Llangennech near Llanelli. The couple, a schoolteacher and her miner husband, had enacted a campaign of civil disobedience against the local authority, the Inland Revenue, the Westminster government and other public bodies, which had continually refused their requests to communicate with them in the medium of Cymraeg.

            The Beasleys consequently refused to pay taxes, and after numerous court appearances succeeded in forcing Llanelli council to issue its summonses to them in Welsh. In his radio speech Saunders Lewis hailed the Beasleys as inspirational figures, claiming: ‘Their trouble became the subject of the country’s attention.’ In an immediate echo of the couple’s activities Cymdeithas yr Iaith’s first campaign was to establish the right to receive court summonses in Welsh. The society commenced its activities in February 1963 with a sit-down occupation of the Trefechan Bridge that prevented traffic from entering Aberystwyth, although no summonses were issued in response to the 26protest. Cymdeithas yr Iaith Gymraeg was forced to wait until 1966 before one of its members was finally arrested as a consequence of direct action. The offence in question was the refusal to display the appropriate tax disc in a vehicle, because the disc was written, like all official documents in Wales, in English.

         

         
            Cynog Dafis: There were two functions in Saunders Lewis’ speech that ran together: the one was a response to the Tryweryn issue and the frustration at Plaid Cymru’s continuing electoral failure, and of course direct action was in the air, and there is more to that than I can tell you. All kinds of direct action. And that eventually expressed itself later in the bombing campaign around the Investiture [of the Prince of Wales]. What Saunders Lewis’ lecture did was offer an alternative route for the frustration and for the wish to get involved in direct action. And of course, Saunders Lewis based his suggestions on the campaigns of Trefor and Eileen Beasley. The whole question of official status for the Welsh language following the radio lecture made it possible for one to devise a law-breaking direct-action-type campaign on that issue.

            Ffred Ffransis: When Saunders Lewis made his speech, ‘The Fate of the Language’, which, looking back, seems like a very tame speech in 1962 but there we are, it was said – I don’t know if it’s true – that primarily this was aimed at Plaid Cymru, to suggest to Plaid Cymru that they should build up something which was not just a political party, but was a social and cultural movement as well, in the same way that Sinn Féin would be in the six counties of the north of Ireland. That was one potential route, and the other route was no, we are a constitutional political party and that’s for others.

            Cynog Dafis: There was that sense of threat and Saunders Lewis articulated that. Saunders Lewis also said that the only way out of this involved revolution – yes, he used the term ‘revolution’ – and only revolutionary methods could tackle this whole issue. It was those two 27things combined. And I remember when I was chair of Cymdeithas yr Iaith, I led a little delegation to meet Saunders Lewis. There was this debate about Plaid adopting a direct-action strategy and somebody said to Saunders Lewis, ‘But Gwynfor Evans says that he doesn’t understand what it would mean to use the Welsh language as a political instrument.’ And Saunders Lewis said – I remember him very clearly saying – ‘Well, in that case, Gwynfor Evans doesn’t understand politics,’ because it was quite evident to him that using the Welsh language as an instrument for creating a revolutionary climate could then change Wales.

            Dafydd Iwan: My father met the three of them – Saunders Lewis, Lewis Valentine, D. J. Williams – and I met the three of them in time. They were very important figures in my upbringing, because of their writing, because of their Christianity and because they were nationalists, with high ideals, for Wales and the language. They were my heroes, notwith-standing the burning of the bombing school. But that has become a very important symbol; like Tryweryn, it has a very special place in our consciousness as Welsh people. The lecture Saunders Lewis gave in 1962 was certainly a pointer and was very relevant, but I think Cymdeithas yr Iaith would have happened even without the lecture. Obviously with time the two things have become seen as a cause and effect, because Saunders said that we need a movement dedicated to the resurrection of the language.

            Cynog Dafis: What Saunders Lewis said in that lecture is that the language is more important than self-government. And people were taken aback by that at the time, and I never gave up on the idea that these two things had to be seen together: that we wouldn’t get the language moving unless we had self-government. But it’s unquestionably the case that the radicalisation, the awareness and the energy that was released by the language movement played a huge part, a huge part, in the political transformation that occurred.28

            Ffred Ffransis: The first time I became politically aware of anything, really, was 1963 or ’64, during the build-up to the UK general election. In the old grammar school that we had in Rhyl there were always mock elections and so on, and together with that and the local Plaid Cymru office opening in Rhyl, that’s when I became interested in politics. It was Tryweryn for the generation before me. For me, it was what became known as the Brewer Spinks episode, whereby a guy, presumably, from his name, not indigenous to Wales, opened up a factory in Blaenau Ffestiniog. I would suspect he [hoped to] find a fairly cheap pool of labour, people who might be unemployed, and he banned them from speaking Welsh in the workplace, even though 100 per cent of the workforce would be Welsh-speaking, it would be their natural language. Now that was something which enraged people, and not just me, but in that area of Wales, in Rhyl, the vast majority of people who’d grown up in the area, they would identify with the Welsh language, even though they didn’t speak it themselves. They’d think of it as a language which in some form or another, to various degrees, belonged to them, and they would take it as a personal insult if the language was denigrated.

            I was determined. I was going to take a train to get down to Blaenau Ffestiniog – actually, that railway line is the one branch line in Wales which is still open – to take part in the protests. Before I was able to do so, the thing was resolved very quickly: he backed down. But it was enough for me to notice an advert in Y Cymro, the weekly Welsh-language paper. I was studying Welsh at school, as a modern foreign language, the way in which most of the second-language Welsh was taught in those days to non-Welsh-speaking children. I wouldn’t normally have taken Welsh as my main subject in sixth form at college – I wasn’t all that interested in literature, but it was the only way really of becoming fluent in the language, so I was doing that. To help that, I received every week the Welsh-language weekly newspaper Y Cymro. There was an advert to join Cymdeithas, the Welsh Language Society, I filled it in, I sent it away, and I joined.29

            And a year later, when I arrived at Aberystwyth University, I went straight to registration on freshers’ day to the desk of Cymdeithas yr Iaith. I joined the local branch and the following Saturday there was going to be a protest outside Swansea Prison for one of the main founder members who had been imprisoned for refusing to pay a fine because he refused to show a tax disc because it was English-only. Not only did I do that, but within a few weeks I’d passed my driving test – I couldn’t drive properly, there’d never been a car in the family – but I invested £5 of my student grant in buying a 1951 Ford Anglia, which couldn’t go out of Aberystwyth because it couldn’t go up any hills. I parked it on the side of the road with a note on the windscreen to the police, saying this wasn’t being taxed because the tax discs were in English only, and went away to my student flat and waited for the police to arrive. I was still waiting four weeks later – they didn’t think it was the number one priority in Aberystwyth to come after me.
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            The urgency of the founding of Cymdeithas yr Iaith Gymraeg was demonstrated not only by Saunders Lewis’ speech, but by the need to respond to a series of political interventions undertaken by the Westminster government in rural Wales. Most notably, impetus for the creation of Cymdeithas yr Iaith Gymraeg in 1962 was provided by the proposed imminent drowning of the village of Capel Celyn in Tryweryn, North Wales, for the building of a reservoir to pump water to the city of Liverpool. Despite the objection of every MP representing a constituency in Wales, apart from one Conservative, who abstained, Liverpool City Council was able to bypass planning legislation by obtaining an Act of Parliament in 1965 and the swift clearance of Capel Celyn was approved for the construction of the dam. The following year Gwynfor Evans, the leader of Plaid Cymru, would become the party’s first elected Member of Parliament, representing the constituency of Carmarthen. His election represented a watershed 31moment for both parties and was regarded as a demonstration of the strength of feeling at large in Welsh nationalism. This sense of insurgency would be further asserted during the preparations for the investiture of Charles Windsor as Prince of Wales at Caernarfon Castle in 1969.

         

         
            Dafydd Iwan: I went to Aberystwyth University for a year, and that was the year leading up to the founding of Cymdeithas yr Iaith, so it was very much at Aberystwyth University that the whole thing was coming up to the boil, and then I went to do the architecture course in Cardiff, and during that summer, I think it was during the Plaid Cymru summer school, the society was set up.

            Meinir Ffransis: I think it was decided to found Cymdeithas yr Iaith in the summer school in Pontarddulais by Tedi Millward and John Davies, but it was done under Plaid Cymru. Wherever you went, people said, ‘Oh, Plaid is only for Welsh-speakers,’ and this kind of thing, and Saunders had made this plea in his radio lecture ‘Tynged yr Iaith’ and it was decided there should be a movement explicitly to focus on the language, and it was decided that non-violent illegal actions could be undertaken. Saunders Lewis, Lewis Valentine and D.J. took their action of course, against the RAF bombing school, but because of the danger somebody could be hurt, we never, ever used that method.

            Cynog Dafis: If I were to be asked, ‘What was the main motivation at that meeting in the classroom in the school in Pontarddulais at the time of the Plaid Cymru conference?’ I think it was frustration and wanting to start using direct action: I think that was it.

            Ruth Stephens: Cymdeithas was constituted in my parents’ house in Aberystwyth, 51 North Parade. 32

            Meinir Ffransis: Yes, it was in Uncle John and Aunty Bessie’s house.

            Ruth Stephens: That was where they had the first meeting. I don’t know if they signed the official bits there, but that’s where they first met: Tedi Millward, John Bwlchllan, people like that came together to set up Cymdeithas in 51 North Parade, Aberystwyth. As for Cymdeithas, well, it started off with students, in the universities, and the demonstrations against road signs. Meic did a lot of that with John Bwlchllan, the historian, they used to go round changing the Post Office signs in Dinas Mawddwy; he asked them to change the signs there, and at Trefin, down in Pembrokeshire, they changed the signs, and then they took up all these ideas and made them work on a massive scale.

            They’d shown we don’t want to harm people, we don’t want to kill anyone, but we’re desperate for a way of showing how we feel, and we’ll do amazing things to show the strength of the feeling that we’ve got against what is being done to us.

            We had to demonstrate with as strong a voice as possible how we felt, and as young people. One of the first acts of protest was to bicycle up and down the promenade at Aberystwyth in front of the police station with someone sitting on the handlebars, which was illegal. They went up and down all day, but they had better things to do than arrest them.

            Meinir Ffransis: For my father [Gwynfor Evans], first and foremost, it was a matter of his heart and what was right and coming to the realisation that Wales was a nation. His Welsh teacher was a great influence on him. He was very lucky when he was in the sixth form – there were only two of them studying Welsh, and Gwyn ap Jones was his teacher and he was almost the same age as them, fresh from college. David Williams, the historian, was his history teacher, so David Williams urged him to read history books like Religion and the Rise of Capitalism by R. H. Tawney, who was on the left of the spectrum as regards economics. He went to a few lectures by R. H. Tawney, 33when he was in Oxford, and he was a member of the Left Book Club and his friend in school was a member as well. He became a great admirer of Keir Hardie and his parents were Liberals who idolised Lloyd George, but my mother’s parents, her father in particular, was a strong Independent Labour Party man in Liverpool – my mother was brought up in Liverpool – and very friendly with George Lansbury. He organised meetings in Liverpool and he was working in the bank and he was very, very active with forming unions for the bank workers. I remember Ffred and me going to meet some bank managers when there was a campaign for equal status for Welsh. There were about ten of them and it was at dinner, and they’d all heard of my grandfather and his work with the banking unions and that he was a member of the ILP. Of course, he became a little bit disillusioned with the Labour Party, as did Keir Hardie, with the attitude towards war.

            Dafydd Iwan: I knew Gwynfor, and my father knew him and thought very highly of him, because of this mix of being a Christian, a pacifist and a politician of great integrity. His strength in the end was this sticking to his principles for a long time and not allowing himself to become a great orator or a passionate campaigner: he was just a steady constant in the campaign for Wales. A lot of people thought he was too quiet and too much of a pacifist and a Christian, and that that stood in the way, but in the end that was his strength.

            Ruth Stephens: Gwynfor’s wife was my mother’s first cousin, and we lived in Aberystwyth. My father was a minister in Aberystwyth, and it was quite central for Wales, so Gwynfor used to call on us often. Because he farmed tomatoes in his greenhouse down in Llangadog and he looked after the greenhouse himself, he wanted to get home every night. Wherever he was travelling from, he’d want to get home to Llangadog. 34

            Dafydd Iwan: Gwynfor in many ways was ahead of his time. He set himself up as a tomato-grower, which was often ridiculed by the Labour Party, but he went from Barry to live in a rural village and set up a business which allowed him time to trek around Wales campaigning.

            Ruth Stephens: He was so principled, and very genuine, and it took a long time for people to get to know him, but it was his personality that got him to where he was. Small countries, that was his big thing then.

            Rowan Williams: Plaid Cymru, at that time, I think especially under Gwynfor Evans’ leadership, was very much the political organ of all that. It was the time when Plaid Cymru really had left Saunders Lewis a long way behind, and, clearly, Saunders Lewis was not very happy about the direction taken by Plaid in the fifties and sixties, because Plaid was happily drifting leftwards in his view. His image of Plaid Cymru had been of Action Française in Wales, but the uncomfortable fascist resonances of those early days had been, I think, very successfully buried by the sixties.

            Meinir Ffransis: My father was for workers’ control and workers profiting from businesses where they worked. In the colliery near Pentremawr the workers were very, very keen to form a confederation where they would own the colliery and my father supported them, but the local Labour Party was strongly opposed to it, because they wanted, of course, to centralise everything. The National Coal Board was so opposed to it that it didn’t come to fruition. My father took the New Statesman, which Saunders Lewis didn’t approve of at all. He was a bit different in his standpoint to economics from Saunders Lewis. My father was also a strong pacifist, and Saunders wasn’t.

            Dafydd Iwan: I went to school on a train from Llanuwchllyn to Bala and saw the preparations for the dam at Tryweryn before they even mentioned drowning the valley; they were preparing where the two 35rivers, the Tryweryn and the Dee, come together. They had to control the flow from the lake down the Dee, and from the new Tryweryn Dam, as it was going to be. They were saying that they were doing it to stop flooding in Bala. There must have been collusion between the local authority and probably the politicians before they recognised openly that, in fact, they were part of preparations for a dam.

            Gwynfor did more than most of his detractors in campaigning against the flooding of Tryweryn. He marched with the residents of Tryweryn in Liverpool, he spoke in their council chamber – my father also went on a lot of the protest marches regarding Tryweryn. The inference has grown that Plaid Cymru sat back and did nothing, which wasn’t true. I lived in the area during the 1960s, so I knew that Plaid Cymru was very much involved with the campaign to try and save Tryweryn, but of course we failed. Those who did use explosive devices there were seen, not as enemies of Plaid Cymru, but outside the ranks of Plaid Cymru – they had come up from South Wales. But again, Gwynfor went to Bala during one of their trials to shake hands with two of the people charged, which was quite a risk for him.

            During the Tryweryn protests period there was quite a vociferous minority in Plaid Cymru who believed that, as the national party of Wales, we should not just condone but use direct methods, even if it meant using bombs – they never said that, but that was the gist of it, and Gwynfor Evans, as the long-time president of the period, was getting a lot of flak from a minority of Plaid members because he was so very much in favour of non-violent campaigning.

            Gethin ap Gruffydd: Saunders Lewis had told Mudiad Amddiffyn Cymru not to bother with Tryweryn, but what never happened at Tryweryn was an occupation. They could have occupied the whole village like the Native Americans occupied Wounded Knee; they could have occupied the village and stopped it being knocked down; they just occupied a bloody bridge instead. Cymdeithas would pull signposts down and all the rest of it, anything more serious, no way.36

            Ffred Ffransis: That’s the debate that came to a head with Tryweryn; that’s the significance of Tryweryn. Plaid Cymru members and Gwynfor himself were involved in a number of direct protests against the construction of the dam, and taking the campaign to the streets of Liverpool, but in the end it failed, and whenever anything fails there are always two possible interpretations. One that that isn’t the way, and the other, that that is the way, but we didn’t go far enough along that way. So that was the schism, that Plaid Cymru said, ‘Well, this is never going to work; this is only going to work when we become a serious political constitutional force and we get members of parliament and so on,’ whereas those who formed Cymdeithas yr Iaith, practically all of them members of Plaid Cymru, said, ‘Right, what we have to do, then, is form a separate movement which will be involved in direct action and constitutional actions. The two movements might well have an understanding, but they’ll be two separate movements.’

            And that was the main schism.

            Cynog Dafis: On the Tryweryn issue, Gwynfor was in favour of direct action. It wasn’t Gwynfor that opposed it; it was the local Plaid Cymru party that had by that time managed to gain a toehold of political credibility and influence, even power, locally. He was in favour of that and then, of course, when the party decided not to act, he was the one – poor fellow – who had to carry all the opprobrium. There was a kind of stoical heroism about people: they just took it.

            Dafydd Iwan: It was quite nasty at the time, because of this feeling of frustration, and they took it out on Gwynfor. At the time there was this feeling of frustration and inability– you know, every MP bar one voted against the bill – but it made no difference whatsoever, and that was a pretty strong message and a lesson, which Plaid Cymru obviously used, and has grown again in meaning over the years. Other people now throw it back – not throw it back but use it as an argument: fancy them drowning that village. It’s taken a time, but on the other hand, 37to my generation and to young members of Plaid and Cymdeithas yr Iaith, Tryweryn was certainly very potent.

            Ffred Ffransis: Tryweryn was a massive issue. I remember the very early 1960s when I’d just moved to secondary school and people talking about it at school. It was portrayed at the time that one was depriving the people of Liverpool of any drinking water at all, which wasn’t the case, and so on.

            Dafydd Iwan: Tryweryn has grown over the years as a symbol of the inability of Wales to stand up for itself and take care of its own resources. It’s a very potent symbol.

            Ffred Ffransis: The negative news which awoke me was the way in which we were being treated in Wales: the fact that we had no control of our own future, the fact this was shown in unemployment rates and the fact that our language had no official status at all, and the decline of our communities, and so on and so on. It was the sort of thing which kept me awake at night. Now, over the years, over the decades – and it’s not as if it’s the most recent thing, because it began to happen way back – back in the 1960s, we began to be aware that what we were doing in Wales was part of an international movement. Paris 1968 had effects on us all, the Vietnam War of course, then over into the 1980s, the Cold War, Greenham Common and so on. And anyway, more and more so, the concept of freedom for Wales turned from being something negative that we couldn’t stand the oppression, the way we were being treated: it used to keep me awake till the early hours every night as a sixth-former at school; I just couldn’t sleep, thinking about that, I had to be out, doing something about it. It gradually moved over to a positive idea of, right then, why can’t we have the freedom to build up a model society here in Wales, something which would be different from the injustices all around the world, where we can show people what social justice and brotherhood and sisterhood would really look like? We can 38have a voice in the world community, be accepted as a member of the family of nations – it’s so perverse to think of nationalism and national liberation as cutting oneself off: it’s the very opposite. It means joining the international community. So those were upon my awakening, but the initial awakening was in those negative terms, and there were a few things which did illustrate the way in which Wales was being treated, not just the fact that we didn’t have control over our own affairs and we weren’t able to use our own language, but the fact that we were being treated badly as well.

            Meinir Ffransis: They had used violent methods in Penyberth at the bombing school and there was great pressure on my father to do the same at Tryweryn, so it wasn’t out of the question, but obviously it would be a very exceptional thing for the political party of Wales to be involved in.

            I know that hundreds of young people from all over Wales, especially south-east Wales, became involved in nationalist politics and then Plaid Cymru because of Tryweryn.

            Things can kick people and make them sit up and take notice, and Tryweryn was one of those. Other valleys had been drowned previous to Tryweryn, like Elan and Clywedog, but it was because there was a community which was so cultured living in Tryweryn and it was such a blatant colonialist action – some valley in the north of England somewhere had been saved because of a flower or something, it was all so blatant. The people who lived in Tryweryn didn’t hear of their fate first-hand, they only read it in the papers. Nobody spoke to them before the decision was made. It was such an imperialistic way of doing things.

            Ruth Stephens: I remember my younger brother, he was fifteen at the time, hitch-hiking to be part of the protest in Liverpool. We felt strongly about what was going on in Tryweryn, because they had no right, and all the Welsh MPs were against it. It didn’t make sense at all to 39us. We had family living in Frongoch Farm. My mother’s sister lived in the next farm down the valley from where the lake is, my Aunty Gret. We were all, ‘You can’t drown the valley up the road.’ It was very real to us, what was happening. They said they wanted the water for poor little people without water to drink in Liverpool, but it wasn’t for that, it was for industry and jobs for people outside Wales. The government did nothing to help us in Wales, to set up work for people: they wanted people to move to where the work was with no plans at all. There were no plans with Thatcher, with what they did in the Valleys years later; they just closed everything down and left. Barbarous.

            It was part of our identity that we were losing as well. You understand what Welsh was about, you understand life better. If you’re going to live in Wales, it’s a huge step to understand what you’re going into if you can speak some Welsh. When people move out of a district like from Capel Celyn that’s dispersed, we’ve all lost something, and it illustrated that perfectly, drowning a valley and a community, a village, and moving people out and some of them probably ended up on the border and across in England, looking for work again. They were content where they were, and they should have had more help to develop where they were already living than to be moved somewhere else to try to make a go of it again.

         

         
            Prior to the dam’s completion a graffito was painted on the stone wall of a ruined cottage near Llanrhystud, Aberystwyth, bearing the message ‘Cofiwch Dryweryn’ (‘Remember Tryweryn’). The image was the work of a young author and journalist, Meic Stephens. In subsequent decades the phrase developed into a prominent political slogan, used to assert the cause of Welsh nationalism and the need for a more assertive approach to Welsh identity. The cause was provided with momentum in 1966, the year following the drowning of Capel Celyn, when Gwynfor Evans was elected in Carmarthen as Plaid Cymru’s first Westminster MP. 40

         

         
            Huw Stephens: I didn’t realise until I made a programme about it that my father painted the Cofiwch Dryweryn stone before Tryweryn was actually drowned. He was ready to go, with some friends. It was the fact that every Welsh MP in Westminster voted against the drowning of the valley and the political decision was made for it to go ahead. The actual drowning and the protests of the Welsh going to Liverpool to protest and the grand opening ceremony of the reservoir which turned into a farce, it was before all of that. And the fact it’s been there since is incredible.

            He’d graduated from Aberystwyth and he lived in the commune in Merthyr Tydfil with the poet Harri Webb and other politically interested people. It was a house where, if people needed to stay, they could. They had a pirate radio station broadcasting Welsh thoughts to a Welsh audience, called Ceiliog, ‘Cockerel’.

            The stone wasn’t red and white in the first place, the red came after, and my dad, because he was a Welsh learner, hadn’t mastered mutations, so his original said ‘Cofiwch Tryweryn’, and somebody then corrected it to ‘Cofiwch Dryweryn’, which is one of the most Welsh things ever. And years later, somebody wrote ‘Sorry, Miss’ next to it as well, which is brilliant.

            It was only in later years my dad spoke about it publicly and admitted that he had painted it. In his autobiography it’s a paragraph where it could be a chapter – it could have been a book. My dad edited 150 more books, but he says those two words were his most important, because of the weight of what happened to that valley and what it meant to Wales as a country.

            Obviously, there’s a lot of confusion over Tryweryn, for people who know the story, even: was anyone hurt when the valley was drowned, did anybody die? Did anyone drown? No. Was it in Aberystwyth? Well, no, that’s where the wall was. Where is Tryweryn?

            It was in a time of political excitement in Wales, lots of painting of slogans. Cofiwch Dryweryn was a lot of things; it was everything. It was the language, in that a naturally Welsh-speaking community was 41forced to move and everything was destroyed; I’ve interviewed a lady called Eurgain Prysor Jones who was one of the children there, and we were sat on the dam in Tryweryn, and the dam is made of the wood and the bricks from the chapel and from the school in the valley. It was moved and it was moved to build the dam.

            My dad dedicated his life to promoting the literature of Wales, the political side of Cofiwch Dryweryn and being a young student and being a young man who painted slogans, and standing as a Plaid Cymru candidate was a very short window of his life. He got a job at the Arts Council of Wales; he was the literature man, and he was there for about thirty years, promoting Welsh literature. His passion was literature from Wales in English, and bridging the gap between the Welsh-language world and the English-language world, and that’s why Planet: The Welsh Internationalist and Poetry Wales and all of those things, the Rhys Davies Trust later on, were so close to his heart.

            Tecwyn Vaughan Jones: My political stance was crystallised by my parents. My father was from a strong Labour background, having been brought up and lived in Blaenau Ffestiniog, but his experiences during the war had made him into a Welsh nationalist, a Plaid Cymru supporter. I have a vague recollection of the 1959 election, when he was canvassing for Gwynfor Evans, who stood in the Merioneth constituency then. The biggest deal was 1966, when Gwynfor Evans won Carmarthen: that was a big deal in our house. It was a big news item, of course, and I remember my mother – I was home from school at the time – sending me to his workplace to tell him: ‘Just tell him that Gwynfor has won.’ And then he walked back home with me to see the television news. I thought, ‘Well, this is really, really important.’ I was fourteen years old then.

            Huw Stephens: There’s a picture of my dad carrying Gwynfor on his shoulders on the day he was elected the first Plaid Cymru MP at the big celebration of him going to Westminster.42

            Ruth Stephens: Gwynfor got in in Carmarthen, in his home town. He was fantastic, it was the best place for him to stand.

            Meinir Ffransis: When he went to Parliament, as an MP, Emrys Hughes was showing him round and said, ‘Don’t sit on the Welsh table,’ where they were almost all Labour, ‘Your name is mud there,’ he said. But he did have a friend in Elystan Morgan, who was the Cardigan Labour MP, and I think Cledwyn Hughes from Anglesey was quite kind, but nobody else.

            Dafydd Iwan: Gwynfor became a figure much hated by the Labour Party, and he wasn’t afraid of saying it as it was, in the chamber.

            Philippa Davies: The evening Gwynfor Evans got in my mother took me down because she was so incensed about it. My mother was booing and hissing with a load of her Russian friends and I was taken along as well. I can remember it clearly. They thought it was an absolute catastrophe. A catastrophe. Mattie Morris, Joan Ifor and my mother who were pro-Russia, were there absolutely stamping about it. They would have regarded Plaid as a bit right-wing then.

            Dafydd Iwan: If you go back to the time of S. L. Davies or Jim Griffiths, or Keir Hardie before them, the ideas of self-government for Wales, and indeed full status for the Welsh language, were accepted as a part of the whole socialist agenda that Labour had. Gradually, with the growth of Plaid Cymru, the Labour Party grew more antagonistic to the Welsh language, because they saw it as a threat. Having been a party motivated by good intentions for the working class and the workers, the Labour Party became very entrenched in its power base and jealous of any threat and saw Plaid Cymru and the growth of Welsh nationalism as a threat, and therefore they became an anti-Welsh-language party. This was not true of all Labour MPs, but it was certainly true of the main thrust of things. They thought that the Labour Party had the 43divine right to run Wales, and they perhaps knew and still know that if anybody’s going to break their hegemony – is that the word? – it’s going to be Plaid Cymru.

            Meinir Ffransis: My father hated being an MP. It made him so ill. I remember well, he had terrible, terrible nightmares, and he’d wake himself up, shouting. My mother said she had to move to a different room, because he was shouting so – ‘I protest!’ It did have a massive effect on him, and he knew that that’s what was in front of him when he went in 1966 – he would be all on his own. Everybody was so happy and it was only he himself who was very, very apprehensive. They were so horribly nasty. The old gentlemanly Tories, like Whitelaw, he much preferred them personally, because of the nastiness. He liked Michael Foot a lot, as well. Michael Foot seemed to be a different type of man. I think he had some admiration for Tony Benn, but Tony Benn didn’t have anything to say to Welsh nationalism or Scottish nationalism. No, quite the opposite.

            But he became so ill and my sister went to see him in hospital, and she had to walk out of the room and broke down, because he looked so terrible. In Carmarthenshire the Labour Party were spreading the rumour that he didn’t have long to live and this kind of thing.

         

         
            The leading Welsh Labour politician George Thomas, Secretary of State for Wales 1968–70, regarded these developments, such as the Tryweryn protests and the election of Gwynfor Evans, with a marked sense of unease that included a disdain for Cymdeithas yr Iaith Gymraeg and the coalition of activism in favour of the Welsh language. Thomas, originally from Port Talbot in South Wales, held the royal family in pronounced esteem and took personal charge over the forthcoming investiture of the Prince of Wales at Caernarfon Castle in 1969. The investiture, a ceremony that is a theatrical formality rather than an official requirement for the appointment of a Prince of Wales, had only been revived in 1911 and was interpreted 44by many within the movement as an attempt by the Westminster establishment to nullify interest in Welsh nationalism by staging a display of royal theatre. As a production the investiture proved successful.

            This was despite the fact the event had been targeted as part of a bombing campaign initiated three years earlier by Mudiad Amddiffyn Cymru. Mudiad Amddiffyn Cymru had been founded by Owain Williams, Emyr Llywelyn and John Albert Jones, in order to prevent the construction of the Tryweryn reservoir. In 1963 the three had planted a five-pound bomb on an electricity transformer that supplied power for machinery used at the site. Other targets of Mudiad Amddiffyn Cymru’s bombing campaign had included a water pipeline in Llanrhaeadr-ym-Mochnant, which was responsible for transporting water seventy miles from a reservoir near the River Vyrnwy to Liverpool, and the Temple of Peace in Cardiff, which was adjacent to a venue used by the Investiture Organising Committee. Some twenty explosions were estimated to have occurred over a two-year period. By 1969 Mudiad Amddiffyn Cymru was led by John Jenkins, a former non-commissioned officer in the British Army Dental Corps.

            Whilst the Mudiad Amddiffyn Cymru membership remained secretive, another separate organisation, the Free Wales Army, founded by the flamboyant Julian Cayo-Evans, claimed affinity with the Mudiad Amddiffyn Cymru bomb attacks to a point that suggested responsibility. In the lead-up to the investiture more explosives were detonated, including one in George Thomas’ Cardiff office. Thomas, who would be the sole passenger to accompany Prince Charles in his carriage on the day of the investiture, was emotionally devoted to the success of the occasion and gave public assurances that the bombing campaign had been extinguished.

            Around 2,000 members of Special Branch were deployed across Wales in the months before the royal event. Many of the Welsh nationalists whose names were mentioned on police records, including the three founding members of Mudiad Amddiffyn Cymru, were 45placed under surveillance or intimidated. The explosions continued across Wales, however, and several devices that failed to detonate remained undetected. Nine members of the Free Wales Army were arrested and charged with public order offences. The nature of the arrests suggested the authorities were attempting to curtail the braggadocio of the Free Wales Army, which was sustained by regular media interest, rather than award the organisation any credit for arranging the explosions campaign. The trial of the nine was held in Swansea, lasted fifty-three days and concluded on the day of the investiture. The prosecution’s case largely rested on evidence from journalists’ interviews with Cayo-Evans. He, his second-in-command Dennis Coslett, and four other members were convicted; Cayo-Evans and Coslett were imprisoned for fifteen months.

         

         
            Gethin ap Gruffydd: There were very many similarities between Wales and Algeria. After the Second World War, [in opposition to] French colonialism, a lot of Algerian soldiers had gone home and started the National Liberation Front. People like Cayo-Evans, Tony, Glyn and Cofyd of the Free Wales Army had all been in the British Army and they came home and had a totally different attitude to fighting for Welsh freedom to the one Cymdeithas and Plaid had. My brother went on a training course to learn how to silk screen so we could put posters up. It was a government-funded course but nearly everybody on it was a revolutionary, from Welsh nationalists to Irish nationalists to Black Panthers. We learned how to silk screen, then print them in the garage at night, and the next morning we’d go and stick them up. Our biggest problem in Wales is we have never had a Private Eye or an investigative press; the Welsh-speaking working class in Wales has never been represented.

            I met John Jenkins at the Plaid Cymru summer school of 1965 or 1966. Neither of us were members of Cymdeithas; as far as we were concerned they were opportunists. We had a public meeting about the investiture of Prince Charles, and Cymdeithas saw this and immediately 46jumped on the anti-investiture campaign and used it as a platform for Dafydd Iwan’s songs; I think of them as the crachach newydd, the nouveaux riche.

            John Barnard Jenkins: I do not personify our country [old Mother Wales] because of a sentimental streak, although I am not glacial and iron-hard normally, but because it is the best way to describe her in relation to my personal feelings.

            She is not a beautiful young girl after whom I lust, or an old duchess whose money and status I desire; she is old, well past her best, decrepit, boozy, and has taken strange bedfellows without the saving grace of desperation …

            I owe her my love and my loyalty: she is my mother. She may be a liability but is the sort of liability that a crippled child is, in the eyes of its parents. If I ignore her in her hour of need no one will ever know or condemn, except myself, and I have the sort of conscience that stops functioning the moment I stop breathing.

            I ‘took up arms’ because with many other people, I could feel instinctively that our national identity, our sacred soul, our everything, was not only being threatened but was in the last stages of survival. My aim was to create a state of mind, so that people would not accept all that the English government said and did as Moses on the Mount, to make them realise that all actions are acceptable when performed in the national interest.

            Dafydd Iwan: The things that happened in Wales with John Jenkins planting bombs at the investiture of Prince Charles, I was ambivalent, in the sense that a lot of us thought, ‘Well, somebody’s doing something quite directly to show opposition to these things.’ You couldn’t condemn them for that, but I still said openly that I don’t agree that that is the way we should go, but it’s happening, and it’s happening for reasons I fully understand. I met John Jenkins when he came out of prison, and he was obviously a man of strong convictions who had 47thought very deeply about these things. I also knew several members of the Free Wales Army, but that was more of a drinking club or a joke. Cayo was a character, and I met him in prison, when I was in there for Cymdeithas yr Iaith activities and he was in there after the investiture.

            Ben Lake: My grandfather, my father’s father, was a country policeman for the Tregaron area for thirty, forty years, and Silian, where Cayo lived, was between Lampeter and Tregaron, so my grandfather knew him very well. Much was made at the time of the trial that Cayo had the mental age of a twelve-year-old; there were a lot of quite vicious attacks on him. My grandfather was a typical old-school policeman to the end. I don’t think you’d ever find him condoning some of the actions – but he always spoke against that characterisation of Cayo as a simpleton, always. Cayo passed away in ’97, so he would have known Cayo through the eighties to the early nineties, both in uniform and as a local youngster – and the same is true of my father; he says it was unfair of the prosecution to characterise Cayo like that.

            Dewi ‘Mav’ Bowen: The first time I met Cayo, I went to a Plaid Cymru meeting and I was about fifteen. Gwynfor Evans’ daughters, who were very beautiful, were there. I got away with drinking beer at fifteen, because I was with mature company, Gwynfor Evans and the daughters were buying me beer, and they said, ‘Where does he put it all?’ I think it was the first time I’d really had a proper drink, and I found I was very good at it straight away. Then Cayo came in with all the uniform on. I said to him, and I’d had a couple of drinks, ‘Who the fuck do you think you are, coming in here, spoiling our day?’ With that, he gave me a clip around the ear and I went over the wall: bang. And everybody had a go at Cayo, ‘Hitting a boy like that, what’s the matter with you?’ He said, ‘Yeah, gobby little fucker, he should have shut up.’ And then after that I hung about near the university in Lampeter, and of course Cayo was the big boy up in Lampeter and I reminded him of 48that incident with Gwynfor and his daughters and we got on famously. I told him that I was a wannabe Free Wales Army type of kid, I was still only sixteen, but I painted the railway station with the Snowdon Eagle and had been involved in activities at Tonypandy. Cayo said, ‘I’m going to have you on manoeuvres.’

            A couple of weeks later he took me up to Glendennis where there was this copper who’d upset him and he knew his car was in the rugby club in Lampeter, which is out in the woods. He gave me the balaclava and some clutch fluid, and I was to tip clutch fluid all over this car – I had the number plate – and then walk down towards town, and then there I was, in the Black Lion in Lampeter, a meal had been ordered, and of course according to everyone present I’d been there all night with Cayo. The copper was called Inspector Fisher, and his son was an actor in Pobol y Cwm – I met him later on. In one of Cayo’s famous court cases, he said, ‘The trouble is, this police officer has got an extreme prejudice against my personal self, because I was seeing his missus,’ and that’s the kind of bloke Cayo was. He had a very sad end: he started taking tranquillisers and things like that, and I think he lost the plot, poor boy. We were a strange bunch altogether, really. I didn’t see a lot of extreme nastiness in the Free Wales Army, in the kind of way I’d seen it elsewhere, in Ireland for instance.

            Rhys Mwyn: We had a family in our school in Llanfair, they were three brothers, the sons of Glyn Rowlands from the Free Wales Army. Glyn was known as the lone bull of Corris: he lived in Corris and was a forester. His boys were in school with us, and a cache of rifles was found underneath his stairs, so he went to prison, and because the boys were in school with us, Glyn Rowlands became this hero, so we were aware of the Free Wales Army through the boys.

            I met Glyn over the years, on various occasions, and we always had that bond, because he knew we were friends with the boys, and Glyn was hardcore; he had no regrets. You get it in the north of Ireland as well, some of these characters – they have no regrets, they do their 49time and not for one second do they regret what they did. I always liked Glyn. He knew that I differed politically, because we went on a rally once, and I was with Glyn, and we were talking about the boys, and at this rally they all toasted Owain Glyndŵr, and I didn’t, and I remember saying to Glyn, ‘I don’t do Glyndŵr.’ For me, if it was class war, he’s landed gentry, and I would always joke with him: ‘What’s the Marxist view of Glyndŵr?’ and he’d never have an answer, I would always throw that in. ‘What would Aneurin Bevan make of Glyndŵr?’ You can see the nationalists stumble, because it’s too easy a narrative: Glyndŵr, national hero, but what if it’s class war? And they’re stuck.

            The Free Wales Army was Cayo-Evans and his mates. They were extremely, some of them, to the right. I went down to Cayo’s home and I recorded him. Cayo played accordion, and he rambled on. When I went down to do that, one of his entourage had a, well, I’m not sure what it was, it was a German t-shirt, and I thought there was a sub-text there that some of them were probably out to lunch politically.

            Dewi Prysor: By the time I got to secondary school there were Free Wales Army slogans everywhere. This is working-class children now, with parents in industrial backgrounds, they turned into nationalists. On the desks would be painted the Snowdonia Eagle; there was a massive Free Wales Army slogan on the wall of the gym, which everyone who walked past could see.

            Dafydd Iwan: There were very few members of the Free Wales Army. I think most of them were imprisoned on 1 July, the day of the investiture, and it’s quite tragic, because most of them have died fairly young, in difficult circumstances, but they were all characters, eccentric characters in a sense, and Cayo was not making a secret of the fact that he was on a PR exercise, but it was a pretty ineffective PR exercise. When they appeared on the David Frost show That Was the Week That Was, it looked like a pantomime farce: they were all shapes and sizes and their costumes were hopeless.50

            Dewi ‘Mav’ Bowen: I think a reporter from something like the Daily Sketch went up to the Ram in Lampeter and he’d seen old Hywel the farmer. Hywel was a character up around there in Lampeter and the Ram is where they all hung out. And the reporter asks, ‘How many of the Free Wales Army are there then?’ and Hywel said, ‘I’d say about twelve, or thirteen if you count Cayo’s dog, Queenie. And really you ought to, because she’s brighter than the rest of them put together.’ And that was his opinion, as a canny hill farmer.

            Ned Thomas: John Jenkins was imprisoned and then released. He was arrested a second time on some trumped-up charges because they couldn’t find who was responsible for things. He was an intelligent, thoughtful man, different to Cayo-Evans’ type.

            Dafydd Iwan: Tedi Millward, who taught Welsh to Prince Charles, made a very outspoken attack on the Free Wales Army as paper tigers who do our movement so much harm. I never really saw the need to attack them in that sense, but I never really took them seriously, and yet, knowing them personally, I knew they were genuine in the sense that they were nationalists.

         

         
            On 30 June 1969, the day before the investiture, two members of the Mudiad Amddiffyn Cymru, Alwyn Jones and George Taylor, were killed when a device intended for government offices in Abergele exploded prematurely in their hands. At 2.15 p.m., mere minutes before the scheduled firing of a twenty-one-gun salute to welcome the royal family, a bomb was detonated in the garden of the Chief Constable of Gwynedd.

            Another device planted at Caernarfon went undetonated until its discovery five days after the investiture by Ian Cox, an eleven-year-old boy holidaying in the area, who, mistaking the explosive for a football, triggered its detonation and tragically lost his right leg. 51

            The arbitrary nature of Mudiad Amddiffyn Cymru’s policy of utilising bombs to create disruption rather than cause physical harm was placed in relief by the maiming of a child of eleven, who was understandably the beneficiary of a great deal of public sympathy.

            A final bomb placed beneath Llandudno Pier to prevent the royal yacht Britannia from being able to berth also failed to detonate and lay undetected, until Jenkins revealed its existence under questioning following his eventual arrest on 2 November. Jenkins was consequently given a ten-year sentence. His prison letters were published in book form in 1978. Jenkins’ correspondents included the Cymraeg intelligentsia of the day and the letters reveal a thoughtful individual, whose resolute convictions were maintained by historical analysis, rather than impulsive or delusional perceptions of nationhood.

         

         
            Dewi ‘Mav’ Bowen: During the investiture, I went up to Caernarfon – psychedelic drugs were involved in this, because we took some acid. We realised that we were being monitored by Special Branch. I remember going for a long walk and this guy following me, and I said, ‘What the fuck are you up to? What have I done?’ and he said, ‘Well, it’s the people you hang out with, isn’t it?’ I said, ‘Oh, fair enough.’ He said, ‘I’ll get off your case. Do you mind if I look in your pockets?’ and I knew I didn’t have any drugs on me so I said, ‘Carry on.’ And he was looking for weapons. But it was a strange experience.

            Gethin ap Gruffydd: At the investiture a few people went to protest, a few were arrested, but a hell of a lot more ducked out and buggered off to Ireland. There was intimidation by the authorities – people had had police guards stationed at their houses so they couldn’t go out. They arrested nine of us, most of us leaders of the campaign, so the campaign fell apart. I used to work in Somerset in the early sixties and I read all this stuff about Tryweryn, all this stuff about Welsh princes, and I came home to fight. I hitched to Cardiff to see Pedr Lewis and the first thing he showed me in the Plaid Cymru offices was a map of 52Wales with all the water pipes in it. Pedr had gone to jail for supplying detonators for the first bomb attack on the Elan Valley, and that was me, I was well into it. I met Tony Lewis and we formed the Patriotic Front and we got going, but by the time of the investiture we were in jail, then I was on trial.

            During the trial I went into the witness box as John Jenkins had done. I saw Inspector Vivian Fisher giving notes to Tasker Watkins, QC, and I thought what are these buggers going to come up with? Years later I lived in Ireland and the Irish Special Branch came to see me – they’d been sent by Inspector Fisher, who had always been after the Free Wales Army. They said we won’t do anything the English police want us to do, just stay out of Irish politics, which I did, which was sad because a lot of Irish people had helped me. I had to stay out of everything. I thought Plaid and Cymdeithas did little at the investiture other than turn it into promotion for Dafydd Iwan’s song ‘Carlo’.

            Tecwyn Vaughan Jones: The investiture in 1969 is where my political activity was formed, as I was very much opposed to the investiture. I used to do things to rile people more than anything: I knew about the Welsh Language Society, I hadn’t taken part in any Welsh Language Society activities then, but I put a banner outside the window: ‘Carlo Cer Adref!’ (‘Charles Go Home!’) We lived in a terraced house and in the summer when the investiture happened, on my Dansette I would play the song ‘Carlo’ with the windows open, just to upset people in the street that were passing by. In the end, they came knocking on the door and asked my father to take the banner down, which I had to do.53

         

         
            
               Carlo

               by Dafydd Iwan

            

            
               [1st verse]

               Mae gen i ffrind bach yn byw ym Muckingham Palas,

               A Carlo Windsor yw ei enw ef.

               Tro dwethaf es i gnocio ar ei ddrws ei dy,

               Daeth ei Fam i’r drws a medde hi wrthof i …

            

            
               [Chorus]

               O, Carlo, Carlo,

               Carlo’n warae polo heddi, heddi

               Carlo, Carlo,

               Carlo’n warae polo gyda Dadi, Dadi.

            

            
               [I’ve a little friend who lives in Buckingham Palace,

               And Charles Windsor is his name.

               Last time I went to knock on his door,

               His Mother answered and she told me …

            

            
               O, Charles, Charles,

               Charles is playing polo today, today,

               Charles, Charles,

               Charles is playing polo with Daddy, Daddy.]

            

         

         
            John Barnard Jenkins: On Christmas Eve 1972 I underwent one of the most emotional and intense experiences in my entire life, which convinced me finally of the existence of race memory, instinct and the strong compelling ties between those who unite in love of country and people. I was sitting down in my little cell, after looking out the bars at the moon shining. The moonlight outside sparkled on the frosty walls and glinted on the menacing tinsel of the barbed wire above them, but I was happy for I was not alone. There were others looking at the same moon who were, like me, in prison for Cymru Rydd Gymraeg [A Free 54Welsh-Speaking Wales] and others fasting for Christmas, and I was linked to them all in a way unaffected by walls and wire. At that instant, as I became aware of this, it was as though my thought had completed a circuit which channelled and directed our united love and energy, for I felt a tangible wave of warmth and love flood over and into me. I was completely transformed, my blood was thrilled and singing, and I was possessed by a compelling ecstasy which was pure love for my country and people. I knew beyond doubt at that moment, the terrible power of the love which had motivated our fighting ancestors such as Caradoc, Buddug, Arthur, Glyndŵr, Llywelyn; my blood was singing to me of a long race memory of dungeons and death for the cause, and I was so submerged in the compelling ecstasy of sacrifice that I would have welcomed pain with joy. The intensity lasted for perhaps fifteen minutes, and finally receded slowly, leaving me drained but happy and filled with pity for those inadequates who have to resort to drugs for this experience. I knew that I had not been alone, and I knew that we were not going to lose this fight, because I had not been alone. All of Wales had been with me in spirit.
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